### No. S249923

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROCKEFELLER TECHNOLOGY INVESTMENTS (ASIA) VII,

Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

SUPREME COURT

8.25(b) FEB **2 1** 2019

CHANGZHOU SINOTYPE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.,

Defendant and Appellant

Jorge Navarrete Cler

After a Published Opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three (Case No. B272170) Deputy

Superior Court, County of Los Angeles (Case No. BS149995) Honorable Randolph M. Hammock

# **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

BLUM COLLINS, LLP
Steven A. Blum (Bar No. 133208)
Gary Ho (Bar No. 229995)
707 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 4880
Los Angeles, California 90017
Telephone: (213) 572-0400

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Can private parties contractually agree to legal service of process by methods not expressly authorized by the Hague Convention?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

### A. The Hague Convention and Party Autonomy

The Hague Service Convention (the "Convention") is the common name of the treaty known as the Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extra Judicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters of November 15, 1965. (T.I.A.S. No. 6638, 20 U.S.T. 361.) The United States executed the Convention in 1967 and it came into force in 1969. The Convention was one of the products of the Hague Conference on Private International Law (the "HCCH" or "Hague Conference"). The HCCH is an intergovernmental organization in the area of private international law that administers several international conventions, protocols, and "soft law" instruments.

The HCCH recognizes that parties to a contract may be in the best position to determine the "rules" that are most suitable for the resolution of disputes, i.e. the doctrine of party autonomy. The doctrine of party autonomy holds that contracting parties retain the power to agree in advance on the laws that will govern their contracts and the methods of resolution of disputes arising under those contracts. The doctrine of party autonomy is today the dominant principle for contract conflict resolution, having gained more ground in the 50 years since the adoption of the Convention in

1965. (See, Symeon C. Symeonides, "Party Autonomy in Contract Conflicts" (2014).)

Fifty years after adoption of the Convention, on March 19, 2015, the HCCH approved the soft law instrument entitled "The Hague Principles on International Law" (the "Principles") to encourage the use of the party autonomy doctrine. (Introduction to the Hague Principles on Choice of Law in International Commercial Contracts, Permanent Bureau of The Hague Conference on Private International Law, @1.3 (2015).) The HCCH intends the Principles, comprised in a Preamble and 12 Articles, to serve as a guide to courts and arbitrators in interpreting or supplementing rules on the party autonomy doctrine. (See, Symeon Symeonides, The Hague Principles on Choice of Law for International Contracts: Some Preliminary Comments, *American Journal of Comparative Law*, Vol 61, No.3 (2013).)

The courts using the Principles include courts in many of the Contract States of the Convention. Specifically the Principles have been adopted in the European Union by Rome I (Regulation (EC) No. 593/2008 pf the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 on the Law Applicable to Contractual Obligations) and in the Organization of American States in the Mexico City Convention

(The Inter-American Conference Convention on the Law Applicable to International Contracts, 17 March 1995.)

The court below completely failed to address the doctrine of party autonomy which has been described as "perhaps the most widely accepted private international rule of our time." (See, Russell J. Weintraub, Functional Developments in Choice of Law of Contracts, 187 Recueil Descours 239, 271 (1984).) Instead, the Court of Appeal adopted an unprecedented interpretation of the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution as enforcing the Convention's expressly authorized methods of service as preemptions of any and all other means of service as set forth in the California Statutory Code of Civil Procedure and decisional law.

The Court of Appeal also went further and held that a party's performance of any actual service of process that is preempted by the Convention, even if pursuant to a voluntary agreement under the doctrine of party autonomy, was null and void *ab initio* as a violation of the receiving party's due process rights. In so ruling, the court below ignored the leading U.S. Supreme Court decision in *D. H. Overmyer Co. v. Frick Co.* (1972) 405 U.S. 174 (corporation's waiver of rights to prejudgment notice and hearing per written agreement did not violate due process requirement and did not support its motion to vacate judgment on grounds that rendering court was

without personal jurisdiction because of lack of personal service or appearance); see also *Commercial National Bank of Peoria v*. *Kermeen* (1990) 225 Cal. App.3d 396. In light of its overlooking not only the Doctrine of Party Autonomy but *Overmyer* and many other U.S. Supreme Court holding, the COA's interpretations of the both the Convention and of the U.S. Constitution bear very close scrutiny.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeal's decision to void *ab initio* the admitted actual service of process on Sinotype far exceeds whatever command the Convention allegedly would present via the Supremacy Clause.

The Convention's Article 16 strictly limits a court's powers in cases involving defaulted defendants. Article 16 provides that, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, a court may relieve a defendant from the effects of the expiration of the time of appeal. The

¹ The Convention's Article 16 requires that when "a summons or equivalent document [has been) transmitted abroad for the purpose of service, and judgment has been entered against a defendant who has not appeared, the judge shall have the power to relieve the defendant from the effects of the expiration of the time of appeal if the following conditions are fulfilled (a) the defendant, without any fault on his part, did not have knowledge of the document in sufficient time to defend, or knowledge of the judgment in sufficient time to appeal, and (b) the defendant has shown a prima facie defense to the action on the merits. An application for relief may be filed only within a reasonable time after the defendant has knowledge of the judgment." (emphasis added.)

Convention empowers no court to void service *ab initio* or even *post hoc*.

The Court of Appeal's decision is unprecedented, in contravention of the doctrine of party autonomy, incongruous with the law of other nations, incongruent with the State of California's intention to serve as an international arbitration center², and will have a disruptive effect on California's international business activities. Most seriously, in an era of growing economic competition among Nations, the decision below promotes an unlevel "dispute resolution field" upon which plaintiffs in China and India can serve U.S. defendants in less than a week via express mail at a cost of less than \$100 while U.S. plaintiffs must serve defendants in India and China through Central Authorities in no less than six months and no less of a cost than many thousands of dollars.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>2</sup> King & Spaulding: California's SB 766, A Step in the Right Direction for International Arbitration for California.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Rockfeller Asia's ability to enforce its arbitral award or judgment is not at issue in this case and should not have been an issue for the Court of Appeal. The answer to this question is provided by the 1958 Foreing Arbitral Awrds on the Recognition of Foreign Arbitral Awards (the "New York Convention") to which the U.S. and China are signatories as they are both to the Hague Service Convention. Substantial legal scholarship has examined the conflicting relationship of the two conventions and concluded that the service provisions of the 1958 Convention override the service provisions of the 1965 Treaty in arbitral settings as opposed to litigation settings See, Antonio D. Tsavdas, Hague Service Convention Does Not Apply to Arbitration Documents, Rokas, August 22, 2013

### B. Impact on the California Economy

The Court of Appeal held that private parties cannot agree to specific forms of service of process not expressly authorized by the Hague Convention. It voided *ab initio* plaintiff and respondent Rockefeller Technology Investments (Asia) VII's ("Rockefeller Asia's") judgment against defendant and appellant Changzhou Sinotype Technology Co., Ltd. ("Sinotype") because Rockefeller Asia's petition to confirm arbitration award was served by FedEx, fax, and email pursuant to an arbitration agreement.

The decision below, if not reversed, would make it impossible for California companies to engage in arbitrations with companies from some of the largest economies in the world - China, Japan, Germany, U.K., India, Korea, Russia, and Mexico, i.e., countries that objected to Article 10 of the Hague Convention permitting service through "postal channels." This would be a disaster for California companies with global supply chains, investment funds with foreign investors, engineering and construction companies that procure materials and handle projects around the world, and any California company that imports or exports goods to or from the United States.

The rules of many California organizations that conduct international arbitrations with foreign parties contain contractual terms imposing service of process by methods not expressly

authorized by the Hague Convention. (See Independent Film and Television Alliance, Rules for International Arbitration, Rule 2.1, "The parties waive application of the Hague Convention for Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters with regard to service of process.") Over the years many foreign defendants have opted to contractually waive the Hague Convention service requirements because the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide foreign defendants with 90 days to file an answer to a complaint, instead of the standard 21 days, if they waive service. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(3); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A).

The Court of Appeal's decision therefore upends decades of contractual obligations. Even awards and judgments entered decades ago are vulnerable to attack, since the Court of Appeal held that judgments can be attacked at "any time" on the ground that the contractual "Hague waiver" violates the Hague Convention.

Thousands of arbitration judgments could be brought back from the dead and voided, with huge economic consequences for California companies. If the four-year statute of limitations for confirming arbitration awards has passed, parties with voided judgments would not be able to file another petition to confirm arbitration award because it would be time-barred. The burden will be especially hard felt by California institutions such as IFTA which has required

almost all arbitration parties to agree to service of process by methods not authorized by the Hague Convention.

The Court of Appeal erred because nothing in the Hague

Convention allows courts to void service actually performed

pursuant to a private contract. In fact, as shown above, the Hague

Convention expressly supports the concept of "party autonomy"

to determine the choice of law.

The language of the Hague Convention must not be read in a vacuum, but in conjunction with its three stated objectives. First, the Hague Conference intended to create a simple and expeditious procedure for service of process in an effort to encourage international judicial cooperation. (Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters, Nov. 15, 1965, 20 U.S.T. 361, T.I.A.S. No. 6638, 658 U.N.T.S. 163.) Second, the Convention attempts to prescribe means of service that would withstand attack in later suits to enforce a foreign judgment. *Id.*; Note, The Hague Service Convention and Agency Concepts: Lamb v. Volkswagenwerk Aktiengesellschaft, 20 CORNELL INT'L L.J. 391, 396 (1987). Third, the Conference sought to ensure actual and timely notice of lawsuits. *Id*.

These objectives --to facilitate the completion of international litigation in the spirit of cooperation – strongly suggest that the

Page 9

Convention would allow private parties to agree to service of process by methods not expressly authorized by the Hague Convention as long as they provide actual notice.

Further, rulings in the federal courts have shown that the Hague Convention's service provisions are not sacrosanct when alternative methods provide actual notice. Federal district courts have been ordering forms of service of process not enumerated in the Hague Convention with increasing frequency. See e.g., *FTC v*. *PCCare247*, *Inc.*, 2013 WL 841037 (S.D.N.Y. March 7, 2013) (court ordered defendants in India served by email); *Rio Properties*, *Inc v*. *Rio In't Interlink*, 284 F.3d 1007, 1017 (9th Cir, 2002). If courts can order waivers of Hague Convention requirements, then private parties should be allowed to agree to service of process by methods not authorized by the Hague Convention.

Equally important, China International Economic and Trade
Arbitration Commission (CIETAC), an arbitration association
founded and operated by the Chinese government, *allows service by mail in its own arbitration agreements*, in spite of China's objection to Article 10(a). CIETAC Arbitration Rules, Art. 8. This proves that the Chinese government does not consider private agreements to service by mail to be an infringement on its sovereignty.

Here, even though Sinotype agreed to service by FedEx, fax, and email, the Court of Appeal voided Rockefeller Asia's service of summons in direct contravention of three judges (the late Justice Richard Neal, Judge Ralph Ongkeko, and Judge Randolph Hammock) who expressly found that Rockefeller Asia properly served Sinotype pursuant to their arbitration agreement.

Instead of making it easier for Californians to do business with Chinese parties — i.e., allowing them to enter into JAMS or CIETAC agreements with Hague waivers - the Court of Appeal decision encourages Chinese parties to engage in strategic behavior designed to undermine contracts in California and the jurisdiction of California courts. To allow foreign parties to enter into a contract, and then proceed to unilaterally disregard the contract's service of process and consent to jurisdiction provisions, would allow foreign parties to simply return to their country in order to avoid contractual obligations.

This is exactly what happened in this case. Even though
Sinotype and its CEO Curt Huang had *actual notice* of the
arbitration and state court proceedings (JAMs alone served Mr.
Huang with seven separate notices), it hid in silence for seven years
before showing up in American courts to attack Rockefeller Asia's
hard-won judgment.

As Judge Hammock said in his trial court opinion, Sinotype's CEO Curt Huang is "no country bumpkin." He has an advanced degree from U.C. Berkeley and is Chairman, CEO, and General Manager of Sinotype China. Mr. Huang and Sinotype China have substantial contacts with California. Sinotype China is a 70% owned subsidiary of its parent, Sinotype Technology International ("Sinotype USA"), a California corporation with headquarters in San Francisco, California. For over 20 years, Mr. Huang has reported to the California Secretary of State that he is CEO of Sinotype USA, is a resident of California, and is the agent for service of process of Sinotype USA.

According to Mr. Huang's published 2014 statement: "Adobe, Google, Microsoft, Apple, IBM, and now Amazon (in their Kindle Products) are using Sinotype Fonts. Microsoft bundles ten Sinotype fonts with Microsoft Office and ST Heidi, our most popular font, is used in over 70% of set-top boxes. That is about 180 million devices." Making Type, September 18, 2014. Moreover, Sinotype China was in a joint venture with Adobe and Google in California to develop the famous CJK world-wide font. During his two decades in California, Mr. Huang negotiated and executed many agreements on behalf of Sinotype China and his other companies with their American counterparts.

Thus, Mr. Huang clearly understood what he and Sinotype were doing in hiding from U.S. arbitration and court proceedings for seven years – they bamboozled Rockefeller Asia. Having induced Rockefeller Asia to enter a contract by agreeing to waive Hague Convention requirements, Sinotype has turned around and argued that the same contract violates the Hague Convention. Sinotype's repeated failure to appear in spite of actual notice reflects a deliberate strategy to flaunt the authority of California courts, as reflected in Mr. Huang's statement to Rockefeller Asia's principals that Sinotype was "a Chinese company ... [and therefore was] immune to any legal remedies that the [plaintiff] might secure from U.S. courts and that [Sinotype] would ignore and not participate in any U.S. legal process."

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeal has endorsed Mr. Huang's strategy to the detriment of Hague Convention's stated objective to "simplify[] and expedit[e] the procedure by which documents are served abroad." Its decision, if upheld, will drastically curtail the freedom of people in California to do business with people from around the world, which is critically important to the state economy. (See U.S. News, "These 5 States Trade the Most With China," March 23, 2018 ["the State of California does more business with China than any other state in America."])

Parties to an arbitration agreement would not want to submit themselves to California law and bear the risk that their expenditure of time and resources will produce at best nothing but a summons that can be ignored and a judgment that can be challenged for several years after confirmation.

As shown below, this result is not supported by the Hague Convention's language and legislative history supporting party autonomy, nor by a long line of state and federal precedents permitting service of process on foreign defendants by methods not expressly authorized by the Hague Convention.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2008, Rockefeller Asia and Sinotype entered into a contract (the "2008 Agreement"). Because both Sinotype and its CEO Curt Huang had substantial contacts with California, Sinotype agreed to submit "to the jurisdiction of the Federal and State Courts in California" and to "the Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Service [JAMS] in Los Angeles for exclusive and final resolution" of all disputes with Rockefeller Asia. Both parties agreed to be served with process by three specific methods — FedEx, fax, and email.

The 2008 Agreement contained the following provisions:

- "6. The Parties shall provide notice in the English language to each other at the addresses set forth in the Agreement via Federal Express or similar courier, with copies via facsimile or email, and shall be deemed received 3 business days after deposit with the courier.
- "7. The Parties hereby submit to the jurisdiction of the Federal and State courts in California and consent to service of process in accord with the notice provisions above.
- "8. In the event of any disputes arising between the Parties to this Agreement, either Party may submit the dispute to the Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Service in Los Angeles for exclusive and final resolution pursuant to according to [sic] its streamlined procedures before a single arbitrator .... Disputes shall include failure of the Parties to come to Agreement as required by this Agreement in a timely fashion."

Sinotype subsequently breached the 2008 Agreement. In 2012, Rockefeller Asia submitted its claims against Sinotype to binding arbitration at JAMS before the late Justice Richard Neal, who had served for ten years on the Court of Appeal for the State of California. JAMS and Rockefeller Asia both sent arbitration notices and documents directly to Sinotype in the exact manner specified in the 2008 Agreement (via FedEx, fax, and email). Even though Sinotype had both formal and actual notice of the arbitration, it did not appear or participate in any manner in the arbitration

proceedings. After extensive hearing and briefing, Justice Neal issued a detailed written decision against Sinotype and entered an arbitration award for Rockefeller Asia. In the written decision, Justice Neal made extensive findings about how Sinotype had been properly served with arbitration notices and documents by JAMS and Rockefeller Asia.

In 2014, Rockefeller Asia filed this action to confirm its arbitration award. Rockefeller Asia again served Sinotype with court notices and pleadings in the exact manner specified in the 2008 Agreement. Sinotype again failed and refused to appear. In October 2014, Los Angeles Superior Court Judge Ralph Ongkeko, after holding hearings and reviewing pleadings on the arbitration proceedings, service of process, and Sinotype's actual notice of arbitration and court proceedings, entered judgment confirming Rockefeller Asia's arbitration award. Rockefeller Asia served this judgment on Sinotype by the same agreed-upon methods.

notice" that a judgment had been entered against it for almost half-a-billion dollars, Sinotype continued to do nothing. However, once Rockefeller Asia began to attempt to execute on this judgment against some of Sinotype's considerable assets in the United States,

Sinotype finally decided to specially appear in this case in January 2016 to attack the judgment.

Sinotype claimed that the service methods it had agreed to in the 2008 Agreement violated the Hague Convention. Judge Randolph Hammock rejected Sinotype's arguments. Judge Hammock specifically found that Rockefeller Asia and Sinotype agreed to waive the Hague Convention requirements and to serve and accept process by FedEx, fax, and email and that Rockefeller Asia fully complied with these contractual service requirements.

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