FILED

MAY 2 2 2019

No. S249923

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Deputy

FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Changzhou Sinotype Technology Co., Ltd.,

Appellant/Defendant,

VS.

Rockefeller Technology Investments (Asia),

Respondent/Plaintiff.

Second Appellate District Court of Appeal Civil No.: B272170

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No.: BS149995

Judicial Officer Information: The Honorable Randolph Hammock, Presiding in Dept. 47 [(213) 633-0647]

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review of a Published Opinion
of the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three
Case No. B272170

I. INTRODUCTION

A. The Sole Issue Presented On this Appeal is Whether a Private Party's Agreement can Circumvent a Treaty of the United States with a Foreign Nation

The Second Appellate District Court of Appeal decided that a \$414 million dollar default Judgment against Defendant and Appellant Changzhou Sinotype Technology Co., Ltd., in this case, was obtained in violation of the Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents, Nov. 15, 1965, 20 U.S.T. 361, 658 U.N.T.S. 163 (hereinafter referred to as "the Hague Convention" or "the Convention") governing international service of process. The Court of Appeal decided that the Judgment violated the Hague Convention because that treaty, under the terms that China acceded to the Convention, does not permit service by mail in

¹ Article 1 of the Hague Convention declares that the Convention "shall apply in all cases, in civil or commercial matters, where there is occasion to transmit a judicial or extrajudicial document for service abroad." Article 10(a) provides that, as long as the "State of destination" does not object, the Convention "shall not interfere with the freedom to send judicial documents, by postal channels, directly to persons abroad." The People's Republic of China has objected to Article 10. See Hague Convention, China Declaration Notification, 3, available at http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=status.comment&csid=393&disp=resdn (declaring "to oppose the service of documents in the territory of the People's Republic of China by the methods provided by Article 10 of the Convention") - also re-published via a list of hyperlinks at http://www.courts.ca.gov/partners/documents/ea_HagueService.pdf

China, and, instead, requires that all service of process within China occur through China's central authority. China has made it clear and the United States has agreed to abide by China's wishes in that regard, that the Chinese government will control the manner in which its citizens are served with process, through the central authority. The United States Supreme Court in Water Splash, Inc. v. Menon, (2017) 137 S. Ct. 1504 recently decided that, although service by mail under the Convention is not prohibited, any service under the Convention must comply with the law of the forum where service is accomplished. China expressly prohibited service by mail when it acceded to the Convention and required service through its central authority in all cases. In addition, when questioned on the meaning of these requirements in a questionnaire published by the Hague Convention governing body, China stated that private parties could not consent to service by other means. Plaintiff and Appellant has argued that private parties should be allowed to disregard this treaty and also disregard China's expressed wishes through a private contract, and violate the terms of the treaty by serving Chinese citizens in China presumably through email or through postal channels whenever these parties contractually consent to receive such process, in direct disregard of China's own expression of what it meant by its prohibition on any service other than service through the central authority. Clearly, Plaintiff and Appellant is wrong because, if China prohibits parties from voluntarily accepting service in a general sense, without serving through the

central authority, then, of course, China prohibits parties from voluntarily accepting service in the context of a contract.

B. Statement of the Case

Defendant Appellant, CHANGZHOU **SINOTYPE** and TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. ("SinoType"), a Chinese foreign corporation, seeks relief from a Default Judgment that was fraudulently obtained by **Plaintiff** and Respondent, ROCKEFELLER **TECHNOLOGY** INVESTMENTS (ASIA) VII ("Rockefeller") (also referred to as "RTI Asia" or "RockAsia7") (collectively the "Parties"). In the Court below, SinoType argued that the Judgment is void as a matter of law due to improper service of process as required by the Hague Convention. SinoType made other arguments which are not the subject of this review, i.e. that the Judgment is also void because there was no valid and enforceable contract between the Parties: (1) the Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU"), also referred to as the "bèi wàng lù," was a non-binding agreement that anticipates the signing of the final "long form agreements"; (2) SinoType did not voluntarily and knowingly agree to the arbitration provision and the waiver of the Hague Convention's service requirements; (3) the MOU was obtained by fraud due to Rockefeller's misrepresentations that the MOU was non-binding; and (4) Rockefeller did not pay any consideration to SinoType to support the existence of a valid and enforceable MOU. (See MOU at CT 242-245;² see also SinoType's Motion to Quash and to Set Aside Default Judgment for Insufficiency of Service ("Motion to Vacate") at CT 199-217; "long form agreements" attached as Exhibit H to Kejian "Curt" Huang's Declaration at CT 287-428.)

In 2012, Rockefeller instituted arbitration proceedings – turning what SinoType has characterized as a non-binding MOU and an imaginary \$9.65 million stock transfer (200,000 AIG shares) into a \$414 million dollar arbitration award ("Award"). On August 5, 2014, Rockefeller commenced this action by filing a Summons and Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award. (CT 9-30.) SinoType was not served with the Summons and Petition pursuant to the Hague Convention's requirements. Rather, SinoType was served by Fedex and email. (See Proof of Service at CT 34-36.) The trial court, misled into believing that the MOU and the arbitration award were valid and enforceable, and that Sinotype was properly served, confirmed the Award by default and entered Judgment on October 23, 2014. (See Judgment at CT 42-44.) As SinoType was not served with formal process and a copy of the Judgment, SinoType did not learn of the Judgment's existence until March 2015, when Sinotype was informed by a client that there were

References to the Clerk's Transcript shall be as follows: CT ____ (page #).

enforcement proceedings against it. (See Motion to Vacate at CT 210; Declaration of Kejian "Curt" Huang ("Huang Decl."), ¶90 at CT 236.)

On January 29, 2016, SinoType filed a Motion to Quash and to Set Aside Default Judgment ("Motion to Vacate") for insufficient service of process under California Code of Civil Procedure section 473(d) because the Judgment was void for not complying with the Hague Convention. (See Motion to Vacate at CT 199-217.) The hearing on the Motion to Vacate was heard on February 24, 2016 and counsel for both Parties made oral arguments. (See transcript of the February 24, 2016 hearing at RT 1-27.) Having heard the Parties' arguments, the trial court continued the hearing and ordered both Parties to submit supplemental briefs on the issue of whether China has objected to Article 10(A) of the Hague Convention (service by postal channels) and if so, whether individuals and corporations can contractually waive the requirements of the Hague Convention to agree to a different method of service. (See Feb. 24, 2016 transcript, in particular, at RT 23:17-24:13.) The continued hearing was on heard on April 6, 2016. (See transcript of April 6, 2016 at RT 301-336.) On April 15, 2016, the trial court denied Sinotype's Motion to Vacate. (See Order Denying Motion to Quash and to Set Aside at CT 817-823.)

On May 11, 2016, SinoType timely filed a notice of appeal from the Order Denying SinoType's Motion to Vacate. (CT 840-848.)

C. Statement of Appealability

The order appealed from is appealable. Apparently there is no dispute in this case that an order denying a statutory motion to vacate or to set aside a default judgment, such as one made under Code of Civil Procedure section 473, is appealable as a special order after final judgment under Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1(a)(2). (Shapiro v. Clark (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1128, 1137; Generale Bank Nederland, N.V. v. Eyes of the Beholder Ltd. (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1384, 1394.) Similarly, there is no dispute in this case that an order denying a motion to vacate a void judgment is also appealable based on the rationale that the order giving effect to a void judgment, is itself void. (311 South Spring Street Co. v. Dept. of Gen. Services (2009) 178 Cal. App. 4th 1009, 1014; Carr v. Kamins (2007) 151 Cal. App. 4th 929, 933-934; Carlson v. Eassa (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 684, 691.) "While a denial of a motion to set aside a previous judgment is generally not an appealable order, in cases where the law makes express provision for a motion to vacate such as under Code of Civil Procedure section 473, an order denying such a motion is regarded as a special order made after final judgment and is appealable under Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (b) [see now § 904.1, subd.

(a)(2)]." (Generale Bank Nederland, N.V., supra, 61 Cal.App.4th at 1394 (quoting Cochran v. Linn (1984) 159 Cal.App.3d 245, 249).)

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

While not all the facts developed in the trial court motion to vacate are directly pertinent to the sole question presented, as to whether parties can contract around an express prohibition in the Hague Convention governing service of process, Defendant and Appellant believes that it is important for this Court to understand something about the contract at issue in this case.

A. <u>SinoType is a Chinese Company Versed in Chinese</u> Customs

SinoType is a Chinese company headquartered in Changzhou, China, which specializes in developing and licensing Chinese fonts to technology companies in China and the United States. (See Huang Decl., ¶2 at CT 218.) SinoType is a subsidiary of SinoType Technology International, Inc. ("STI"), which owns 70% of SinoType. (CT 218.) SinoType is a frontrunner in the market for Chinese font technology, but the market is a small one. SinoType's revenues from 2007-2014 average to roughly less than \$1 million

per year. (Huang Decl., ¶3 at CT 219; Declaration of Howie Lan ("Lan Decl.") ¶¶2, 30 at CT 472, 478.) SinoType's contracts typically involve one-time payments and are not based on a per-unit sold or a per-use basis. (Huang Decl., ¶8 at CT 220; Lan Decl., ¶3 at CT 473.)

Kejian Huang (hereinafter "Curt") is the Chairman and General Manager of SinoType, and the President of STI. (Huang Decl., ¶2 at CT 218.) He is a citizen and resident of China. (Huang Decl., ¶1 at CT 218.) His colleague, Howie Lan, is originally from China, but lives and works in San Francisco. (Lan Decl., ¶1 at CT 472.) Lan is a shareholder of STI and serves as a board member for SinoType. (Lan Decl., ¶2 at CT 472.)

B. The "Bèi Wàng Lù" – a Chinese Business Custom

In China, businesses often sign different types of documents – not all of which are legally binding. (Huang Decl., ¶¶17-19 at CT 221-222.) A person knowledgeable in this custom, such as Faye Huang – the agent and president of Rockefeller and its parent company Rockefeller Fund Management Co. (hereinafter "RFM") – can use it to her advantage, inducing someone to sign a non-binding document on the one hand and then misrepresenting the document to a court or arbitrator as a binding agreement on the other.

In Chinese, there are four different words used to reflect a relationship between parties, in varying degrees of strength. (Huang Decl., ¶18 at CT 221-222; Lan Decl., ¶9-10 at CT 474.) The word creating the weakest

relationship between two parties, 备忘录, or "bèi wàng lù," refers to a memorandum of understanding between the parties to record the current state of negotiations. (Huang Decl., ¶18 at CT 221-222; Lan Decl., ¶10 at CT 474.) This type of document does not necessarily reflect terms to which the parties have agreed. (Id.) It is often used where there has been no real progress in a business meeting to memorialize the discussion so that the parties can pick up on the negotiations at a later meeting. (Id.) The signing of a memorandum of understanding, or "bèi wàng lù," does not create a binding contract. (Id.) The second word in the progression, 意向书, or "yì xiàng shū," refers to a letter of intent and reflects the intentions of the parties to enter into an agreement before a formal contract exists. (Id.) This is essentially an agreement to agree. (Id.) The third word, 协议, or "xié yì," refers to an agreement between the parties, which is usually, but not always legally binding. (Id.) Finally, the strongest word, 合同, or "hé tong," refers to a formal contract, which is legally enforceable. (Id.)

SinoType's management is familiar with these four different terms. (Id.) When presented with a "bèi wàng lù," they do not necessarily institute their usual contract review procedures, because the "bèi wàng lù" does not create any legally binding obligations. (Huang Decl., ¶29 at CT 224; Lan Decl., ¶15 at 475.) The negotiations in this case never advanced past the beginning stages and the signing of a "bèi wàng lù."

C. Curt Huang Meets Faye Huang and Nicholas Rockefeller

In 2007, Curt was considering the formation of a new company, called World Wide Type (hereinafter referred to as "WWT"), to market and sell international font technology products in the United States and worldwide. (Huang Decl., ¶6 at CT 219; Lan Decl., ¶4 at CT 473.) This is when Curt met Faye Huang ("Faye"). Faye introduced herself as the CEO of Rockefeller Pacific Ventures Company, and told Curt that she worked for Nicholas Rockefeller, a descendant of the famous Rockefeller family. (Huang Decl., ¶¶4-8 at CT 219-220.) She told Curt that Nicholas Rockefeller might be interested in partnering in a new project. (Huang Decl., ¶5 at CT 219.) Faye's business card had Chinese translation and the parties spoke in Mandarin Chinese. (Id.)

In July and September 2007, Curt met with both Faye and Nicholas Rockefeller to explain his plans for WWT, explaining it would be a new company. (Huang Decl., ¶7-11 at CT 219-220.) Curt was impressed by Nicholas Rockefeller's claimed connection to the Rockefeller family, and believed this would help the WWT company expand market share for SinoType's fonts. (Huang Decl., ¶63 at 231.)

The discussions stalled in September and did not resume until February 2008. (Huang Decl., ¶12-13 at CT 220-221.)

D. The Parties Sign the "Bèi Wàng Lù" MOU

In February 2008, Faye and Curt met several times to discuss Curt's

dissatisfaction with the current state of the parties' negotiations and decided to prepare a "bèi wàng lù" to demonstrate that Rockefeller was taking the negotiations seriously. (See Motion to Vacate at CT 205.) During all of these meetings, Curt and Faye spoke in Mandarin. (Huang Decl., ¶19 at CT 222.) Specifically, on February 8, 2008, while Curt was visiting Los Angeles for business, Faye suggested a meeting at a McDonald's restaurant. (Huang Decl., ¶13 at CT 221.) Curt expressed dissatisfaction at the lack of progress in the Parties' discussions regarding the formation of WWT and Rockefeller's failure to generate interest in WWT from prospective investors. (Huang Decl., ¶14 at CT 221.) Faye assured him that Nicholas Rockefeller remained interested in a deal and that she would prepare a draft contract. (Id.)

During a subsequent telephone call on February 13, 2008, Faye suggested signing a "bèi wàng lù" to demonstrate that the parties were engaged in discussions. (Huang Decl., ¶15 at CT 221.) The Parties did not discuss the "bèi wàng lù" in English and Faye never referred to the English word "contract." (Huang Decl., ¶19 at CT 222.) Faye did not have the document prepared when they met on February 17, 2008 and Curt was returning to China the next day. (Huang Decl., ¶20 at 222.)

On February 18, 2008 the Parties signed the "bèi wàng lù". (See MOU at CT 242-245.) Faye contacted Curt just hours before his return flight to China on February 18, 2008 and asked to meet. (Huang Decl., ¶21 at CT

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